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RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 

A hearing was conducted in this case pursuant to  

sections 120.569 and 120.57(1), Florida Statutes (2015), before 

Cathy M. Sellers, an Administrative Law Judge of the Division of 

Administrative Hearings ("DOAH"), on June 3, 2015, by video-

teleconference at sites in West Palm Beach and Tallahassee, 

Florida. 

APPEARANCES 

 

For Petitioner:  Stuart Eichelbaum, pro se 

     Post Office Box 293081 

     Davie, Florida  33329 

 

For Respondent:  Shana Bridgeman, Esquire 

     Goren, Cherof, Doody and Erzol, P.A. 

     3099 East Commercial Boulevard, Suite 200 

     Fort Lauderdale, Florida  33308 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

 

The issue in this case is whether Respondent engaged in an 

unlawful employment practice by discriminating against 
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Petitioner on the basis of handicap, in violation of  

section 760.10, Florida Statutes, and, if so, the appropriate 

remedy. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 On October 1, 2014, Petitioner, Stuart Eichelbaum, filed an 

Employment Charge of Discrimination ("Complaint") with the 

Florida Commission on Human Relations ("FCHR"), alleging that 

Respondent, I Can Benefit Group, LLC, committed an unlawful 

employment practice against him by terminating his employment on 

the basis of disability, in violation of the Florida Civil 

Rights Act of 1992 ("FCRA").  FCHR investigated the Complaint, 

and on February 6, 2015, issued a "Notice of Determination: 

Cause," finding reasonable cause to believe that an unlawful 

employment practice had occurred.  Petitioner filed a Petition 

for Relief with FCHR on February 20, 2015, and the matter  

was referred to DOAH to conduct a hearing pursuant to  

sections 120.569 and 120.57(1). 

 The final hearing in this proceeding originally was 

scheduled for April 15, 2015.  However, on April 13, 2015, 

Petitioner requested a continuance due to a medical emergency.  

The hearing was continued and the parties were directed to 

provide suggested dates for the hearing.  

  Pursuant to the parties' response, the final hearing was 

held on June 3, 2015.  Petitioner testified on his own behalf.  
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Petitioner's Exhibits 4 and 5 were admitted into evidence 

without objection, and Petitioner's Exhibits 1 through 3 and 6 

were admitted over objection.  Respondent presented the 

testimony of Stephan Fingal, vice president of sales for 

Respondent.  Respondent's Exhibit A was admitted into evidence 

without objection and Respondent's Exhibits B, C, D, and E were 

admitted over objection. 

 The one-volume Transcript was filed on June 30, 2015, and 

the parties initially were given until July 13, 2015, to file 

proposed recommended orders; however, pursuant to Respondent's 

unopposed request, the deadline was extended to August 3, 2015.  

Petitioner timely filed his Proposed Recommended Order on  

July 23, 2015, and Respondent filed its Closing Argument and 

Proposed Recommended Order on August 4, 2015.  The undersigned 

duly considered both parties' proposed recommended orders in 

preparing this Recommended Order. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 1.  Petitioner is a 37-year-old Caucasian male.   

 2.  Respondent is an insurance agency registered and 

licensed to do business in Florida and headquartered in Boca 

Raton, Florida.   

 3.  Respondent is a direct marketer of insured products, 

including health insurance policies, and non-insured products, 
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such as lifestyle benefit programs and telemedicine.  Respondent 

uses a call center model to market insurance products.   

 4.  At the call center, sales agents take calls from 

prospective clients and are paid a "base wage" plus commission.  

Since sales agents are paid a base wage, they must meet minimum 

sales requirements to help offset the fixed costs associated 

with their employment.   

 5.  Petitioner became employed at Respondent's Miramar call 

center as a sales agent starting on or about September 9, 2013.  

His employment duties entailed calling potential sales leads and 

selling non-major medical insurance policies over the telephone. 

 6.  The position for which Petitioner was hired did not 

have a specified term of employment, and Petitioner and 

Respondent did not execute an employment contract when 

Petitioner was hired.
1/
        

 7.  Petitioner's work hours were from approximately  

8:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m., five days per week.  Sales agents, 

including Petitioner, were paid $12.50 per hour, with a 

guaranteed salary of $500 per week, plus a commission on sales 

made.  

 8.  In late September 2013, Petitioner became ill.  His 

illness manifested itself as shortness of breath and coughing. 

By late October 2013, his illness had progressed to the point 

that he was experiencing acute respiratory distress episodes.   
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 9.  Petitioner testified that he experienced shortness of 

breath that, at times, made it "physically impossible" to talk 

on the telephone.  However, he also testified that "I was on the 

phone doing what I was supposed to be doing, making calls and 

talking to potential customers, and I was doing it in a way in 

which other agents did it, which was normal and customary."
2/
     

 10.  During his employment tenure with Respondent, 

Petitioner took time off work for medical appointments related 

to his condition, but he could not recall how many times, or for 

how long.  There was no evidence presented showing that 

Respondent was aware of the specific reason for Petitioner's 

medical appointments.  

 11.  On October 30, 2013, the day he was terminated, 

Petitioner experienced a respiratory distress episode and had to 

use the nebulizer while at work.  He also had experienced a 

similar episode at work approximately two days before and had 

had to use the nebulizer.     

 12.  Petitioner did not inform Respondent that he was 

experiencing shortness of breath, respiratory distress, or any 

other medical condition that interfered with his ability to 

perform his job. 

 13.  The persuasive evidence establishes that Respondent's 

human resources representative had witnessed the acute 

respiratory distress episode that Petitioner suffered the day he 
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was terminated.  However, there is no direct evidence that 

anyone with Respondent in a position (such as supervisors or 

managers) to make decisions about Petitioner's employment was 

made aware of his shortness of breath, acute respiratory 

distress episodes, or use of the nebulizer while at work.     

 14.  On October 30, 2013, Respondent terminated Petitioner 

from his employment.  

 15.  The evidence shows that at the time Petitioner was 

terminated, he was informed that it was due to inadequate sales 

production.
3/
   

 16.  Petitioner testified at the hearing, on rebuttal, that 

when he was terminated, the manager who fired him "made a 

comment to me that I couldn't do my job, referring to the fact 

that I was short of breath on the phone, not to the——to a 

reference of low sales."
4/
  There is no other evidence in the 

record that Petitioner was told that he was being fired because 

he was physically unable to do his job.    

 17.  Petitioner testified that he did not recall having 

been informed, before his termination, that he was not meeting 

performance expectations.   

 18.  He testified that he did not know how his sales 

performance compared to that of other agents whose employment 

duties were the same as his.   
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 19.  He testified that he did not believe he was the 

lowest-performing sales agent at the call center.  He also 

testified that he believed he was the only person terminated 

that day.  However, he did not articulate any specific factual 

or perceptual bases for these beliefs.      

 20.  At the time he was terminated, Petitioner asked to be 

given two extra days, until Friday of that week, to allow new 

medications he recently had been prescribed to be given a chance 

to work so that he could talk on the telephone without 

experiencing severe shortness of breath.  Respondent declined to 

provide him the two extra days before terminating him.     

 21.  Petitioner had been employed with Respondent for 

approximately seven-and-a-half work weeks
5/
 when he was 

terminated.  

 22.  Petitioner testified that as of October 30, 2013, he 

was "disabled,"
6/
 although he did not know it at that time.  He 

testified, persuasively, that he continued to have difficulty 

breathing after being terminated.  Sometime after he was 

terminated, Petitioner was determined eligible for Supplemental 

Security Income ("SSI") benefits from the Social Security 

Administration, and eligible for vocational rehabilitation 

services from the Florida Department of Education, Division of 

Vocational Rehabilitative Services.
7/
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 23.  Petitioner asserts that even though he did not notify 

Respondent that he was disabled before he was terminated, he 

believes that Respondent's supervisors and managers perceived 

him being as disabled due to his respiratory distress episodes, 

shortness of breath, and use of a nebulizer while at work, and 

that they terminated him on that basis.  However, as noted 

above, the evidence does not show that anyone in a position to 

make decisions about Petitioner's employment was aware of his 

health condition before Respondent terminated him.  

 24.  At the time of Petitioner's employment, Stephen Fingal 

was Respondent's director of enrollment and oversaw the sales 

department, including the call centers.  Petitioner was among 

the employees Fingal supervised.   

 25.  Fingal testified that each call center sales agent was 

required to make a minimum of 12 "primary" insurance policy 

sales per week
8/ 
in order to cover his or her $500 per week 

salary,
9/
 as well as the cost of "leads," which are generated 

through Respondent's commercial advertising programs, and break 

down to a fixed cost of roughly $1,500 to $2,000 per week per 

agent.  

 26.  The competent, persuasive evidence, consisting of 

Fingal's testimony and sales logs,
10/
 shows that Petitioner 

consistently failed to meet the minimum sales performance 

standard over the entire term of his employment with Respondent.  
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During Petitioner's first week of employment, he was being 

trained, so made no sales.  He made four total sales his second 

week of employment; no sales his third week of employment; one 

total sale his fourth week of employment; 17 sales of mostly 

ancillary policies his fifth week of employment; no sales his 

sixth week of employment; nine total sales his seventh week of 

employment; and no sales the week he was terminated.
11/
    

 27.  The evidence does not establish a pattern linking 

Petitioner's lack of productivity to any documented episodes of 

shortness of breath or respiratory distress.   

 28.  Over Petitioner's entire tenure with Respondent, he 

sold a total of only 33 policies.  Of these, only 15 were 

primary health insurance policies.  

 29.  By contrast, using the 12-sales-per week minimum 

performance standard, an agent whose sales performance level was 

marginally adequate would have sold at least 60 primary policies 

over a five-week period——approximately four times more than 

Petitioner sold over a six-and-a-half week period.  To prove 

this point, Respondent presented the sales productivity 

information for two other sales agents, whose performance was 

characterized as "average," for the same time period as 

Petitioner's employment.  These agents sold approximately two 

times more primary policies and three times more ancillary 

policies than Petitioner sold during the same period.   
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 30.  On cross-examination, Fingal characterized 

Petitioner's comparative sales performance as "in the lower 

quadrant."  When asked whether it was possible that 20 to 25 

percent of the sales agents performed at a lower level than 

Petitioner, Fingal answered "probably not."     

 31.  Fingal testified, persuasively, that Respondent 

declined to give Petitioner the requested two additional days 

because he asked for them when he was terminated.  By that 

point, Respondent already had determined, based on Petitioner's 

consistent failure to meet minimum performance standards over 

his entire employment term, that Petitioner was not going to be 

a productive employee.
12/

  

 32.  Respondent does not hire part-time sales agents, and 

at the time Petitioner was terminated, there were no sales 

positions that did not involve speaking on the telephone.  

Additionally, at the time Petitioner was terminated, Respondent 

did not have any available non-sales positions into which 

Petitioner could transfer.  Moreover, even if such positions 

were available, there was no evidence showing that Petitioner 

was qualified for them.   

 33.  In any event, the evidence shows that Petitioner never 

requested to be transferred to an alternative employment 

position that did not entail speaking on the telephone.  

Petitioner did request what he characterized as an 
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"accommodation" of two additional days, but, as discussed above, 

Respondent declined because it had already decided to terminate 

him due to his consistently inadequate performance over the term 

of his employment. 

 34.  Petitioner posited that he was not the lowest 

performing sales agent, but he did not present any evidence to 

support that supposition.  He also posited that he was the only 

sales agent terminated that day, but, again, did not present any 

evidence supporting that supposition.   

 35.  He did not present any evidence showing that non-

disabled call center sales agents who performed at or below the 

same level as he performed were not terminated.  

 36.  He presented no evidence showing that Respondent 

subsequently filled his position with a non-disabled person.   

 37.  In fact, approximately ten months after Petitioner was 

terminated, Respondent substantially reduced its call center 

sales agent work force, closed the Miramar call center, and 

consolidated its call center operations at its Boca Raton 

location, in an effort to reduce the substantial cost associated 

with having call centers in multiple locations.  This is 

consistent with Respondent's assertion that Petitioner was 

terminated because he was not a profitable employee and that 

Respondent was losing money in continuing to employ him.  
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 38.  DOAH has jurisdiction over the parties to, and subject 

matter of, this proceeding pursuant to sections 120.569 and 

120.57(1), Florida Statutes. 

 39.  The Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992, Chapter 760, 

Florida Statutes (2013)
13/

, prohibits discrimination in the 

workplace.  Section 760.10 states in relevant part:  

760.10 Unlawful employment practices.— 

(1)  It is an unlawful employment practice 

for an employer: 

 

(a)  To discharge or to fail or refuse to 

hire any individual, or otherwise to 

discriminate against any individual with 

respect to compensation, terms, conditions, 

or privileges of employment, because of such 

individual's race, color, religion, sex, 

pregnancy, national origin, age, handicap, 

or marital status. 

 

§ 760.10(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added). 

 

 40.  Federal case law interpreting the ADA applies to 

claims involving a handicap under the FCRA.  See Garavito v. 

City of Tampa, 640 F. Supp. 2d 1374, 1380 (M.D. 2009); Wimberly 

v. Sec. Tech. Group, Inc., 866 So. 2d 146 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004); 

Brand v. Florida Power Corp., 633 So. 2d 504, 509 (Fla. 1st DCA 

1994).   

 41.  Thus, to be eligible for relief from unlawful 

employment discrimination on the basis of disability under the 
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FCRA, a person alleging unlawful discrimination must satisfy the 

evidentiary burdens under the ADA. 

 42.  The ADA prohibits employers from discharging qualified 

employees based on their disabilities.  In this case, the only 

competent evidence
14/

 in the record on which Petitioner relies to 

show discrimination on the basis of disability is 

circumstantial, rather than direct, evidence.  Accordingly, the 

burden-shifting analytical framework established in McDonnell 

Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973), applies to this 

proceeding.  

 43.  Under this framework, Petitioner initially bears the 

burden to establish a prima facie case of discrimination in 

violation of the ADA.  Id. at 802; see Quick at 1363-64.  To 

establish a prima facie case, Petitioner must present evidence 

showing that: (1) he has, or was perceived as having, a 

disability; (2) he was qualified for the employment position; 

(3) he suffered an adverse employment action; and (4) Respondent 

replaced him with a non-disabled person.  See Turlington v. 

Atlanta Gas Light Co., 135 F.3d 1428, 1432 (11th Cir. 1998).  

 44.  If Petitioner establishes a prima facie case of 

discrimination, the burden then shifts to Respondent to 

articulate some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its 

adverse employment action.  This is an "exceedingly light" 

burden of production, not a burden of persuasion; thus, 
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Respondent must only produce evidence that could allow a 

rational fact finder to conclude its actions were not motivated 

by discriminatory animus.  Standard v. A.B.E.L. Servs., 161 F.3d 

1318, 1331 (11th Cir. 1998); Lee v. Russell Cnty. Bd. of Educ., 

684 F.2d 769, 773 (11th Cir. 1982); Washington v. Sch. Bd. of 

Hillsborough Cnty., 731 F. Supp. 2d 1309, 1318 (M.D. Fla. 2010).    

 45.  If Respondent meets this burden, the inference of 

discrimination is erased and the burden shifts back to 

Petitioner, who must then show that Respondent's proffered 

reason for terminating him——i.e., lack of production——was merely 

a pretext to terminate him because of his disability or 

perceived disability.  Combs v. Plantation Patterns, 106 F.3d 

1519, 1528 (11th Cir. 1997).  Pretext may be established by 

proving that similarly-situated non-disabled persons were 

treated more favorably by Respondent than he was.  See 

Valenzuela v. GlobeGround N. Am., LLC, 18 So. 3d 17, 25 (Fla. 3d 

DCA 2009).   

 46.  Petitioner bears the ultimate burden in this 

proceeding to prove that Respondent unlawfully discriminated 

against him on the basis of disability.  St. Mary's Honor Ctr. 

v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 507 (1993); Valenzuela, 18 So. 3d at 22.  

Petitioner's Prima Facie Case 

 47.  To establish the first element of a prima facie case, 

Petitioner must prove either that he has a disability, or that 
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Respondent perceived him as having a disability.  Savage v. 

Secure First Credit Union, 107 F. Supp. 3d 1212, 1217 (N.D. Ala. 

2015).  

 48.  The ADA defines "disability" as follows:  

(1)  Disability.  The term "disability" 

means, with respect to an individual—— 

 

(A)  a physical or mental impairment that 

substantially limits one or more major life 

activities of such individual; 

 

(B)  a record of such an impairment; or 

 

(C)  being regarded as having such an 

impairment (as described in paragraph (3)). 

 

(2)  Major life activities. 

 

(A)  In general.  For purposes of  

paragraph (1), major life activities 

include, but are not limited to, caring for 

oneself, performing manual tasks, seeing, 

hearing, eating, sleeping, walking, 

standing, lifting, bending, speaking, 

breathing, learning, reading, concentrating, 

thinking, communicating, and working. 

 

(B)  Major bodily functions.  For purposes 

of paragraph (1), a major life activity also 

includes the operation of a major bodily 

function, including but not limited to, 

functions of the immune system, normal cell 

growth, digestive, bowel, bladder, 

neurological, brain, respiratory, 

circulatory, endocrine, and reproductive 

functions. 

 

(3)  Regarded as having such an impairment. 

For purposes of paragraph (1)(C): 

 

(A)  An individual meets the requirement of 

"being regarded as having such an 

impairment" if the individual establishes 
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that he or she has been subjected to an 

action prohibited under this Act because of 

an actual or perceived physical or mental 

impairment whether or not the impairment 

limits or is perceived to limit a major life 

activity. 

 

(B)  Paragraph (1)(C) shall not apply to 

impairments that are transitory and minor.  

A transitory impairment is an impairment 

with an actual or expected duration of 6 

months or less. 

 

42 U.S.C. § 12102.  

 

 49.  Here, the evidence establishes that starting 

approximately two weeks after Petitioner was employed by 

Respondent, he began suffering from shortness of breath that 

progressed over the course of the next five weeks to the extent 

that he was having acute respiratory distress episodes that 

required the use of a nebulizer in order for him to breathe.  

Breathing is a "major life activity" and a "major bodily 

function" under the ADA.  Additionally, the persuasive evidence 

establishes that for a portion of his tenure at Respondent, his 

respiratory issues substantially limited his ability to breathe 

at least part of the time.  However, Petitioner's testimony that 

he "was on the phone doing what [he] was supposed to be doing, 

making calls and talking to potential customers, and [he] was 

doing it in a way in which other agents did it, which was normal 

and customary" indicates that at the time of his employment with 

Respondent, his respiratory condition was more transitory than 
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continuous.  Accordingly, it is questionable whether, at the 

time Petitioner was employed by Respondent, he was "disabled" as 

that term is defined under the ADA.   

 50.  Further, the evidence does not establish that 

Respondent's supervisors or managers, who were in a position to 

make employment decisions, perceived
15/

 Petitioner as having a 

disability.  Although Petitioner presented unrefuted evidence 

that he had suffered shortness of breath and respiratory 

distress episodes at work that required use of a nebulizer, and 

that he had taken off work for medical appointments, the 

evidence does not establish that Respondent knew of his health 

problems——much less that Respondent perceived him as disabled.  

See Jones v. Rumsfeld, Case No. 5:05-cv-01100-HGD, 2014 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 44708, at *38 (N.D. Ala. Feb. 14, 2014)(plaintiff 

alleging unlawful employment discrimination on the basis of 

disability must establish that defendant had actual knowledge of 

the disability or considered him or her to be disabled.)    

 51.  Accordingly, it is concluded that Petitioner failed to 

prove that he had, or was perceived as having, a "disability" 

under the ADA.
16/
 

 52.  However, assuming for argument's sake, that Petitioner 

established that he was disabled, or perceived as disabled, at 

the time of his employment with Respondent, he also must show he 
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was a "qualified individual."  The ADA defines a "qualified 

individual" as follows: 

(8)  Qualified individual.  The term 

"qualified individual" means an individual 

who, with or without reasonable 

accommodation, can perform the essential 

functions of the employment position that 

such individual holds or desires.  For the 

purposes of this title, consideration shall 

be given to the employer's judgment as to 

what functions of a job are essential, and 

if an employer has prepared a written 

description before advertising or 

interviewing applicants for the job, this 

description shall be considered evidence of 

the essential functions of the job.  

 

 53.  Here, the evidence establishes that Petitioner is a 

qualified individual, as that term is defined under the ADA.  

Although there is evidence that his shortness of breath a times 

made it difficult to "physically impossible" to speak on the 

phone, Petitioner's testimony also established that at other 

times he was capable of, and, in fact, did speak on the phone in 

connection with his job duties.   

 54.  The evidence is undisputed that Petitioner was 

terminated from employment with Respondent on October 30, 2013.  

Thus, Petitioner suffered an adverse employment action for 

purposes of establishing a prima facie case of discrimination 

under the ADA. 
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 55.  Petitioner also must show that he was replaced by a 

non-disabled person.  However, he did not present any evidence 

addressing this issue.   

 56.  Accordingly, it is concluded that Petitioner failed to 

establish a prima facie case that Respondent discriminated 

against him on the basis of disability when it terminated his 

employment.  

Burden-Shifting 

 57.  However, assuming, for analysis purposes, that 

Petitioner did establish a prima facie case of employment 

discrimination by Respondent on the basis of disability, the 

burden then would shift to Respondent to articulate a 

legitimate, non-discriminatory basis for terminating 

Petitioner's employment.   

 58.  Here, Respondent did far more than merely "articulate" 

a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for terminating 

Petitioner.  It provided extremely compelling evidence that the 

sole basis for Petitioner's termination was that he consistently 

failed to meet the minimum performance requirements of his job 

over the entire course of his employment with Respondent, and 

that as a result, Respondent was losing money in continuing to 

employ him.  

 59.  Once Respondent met its burden to show a non-

discriminatory basis for Petitioner's termination, the burden 
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shifted back to Petitioner to show that Respondent's articulated 

reason for terminating him——lack of production——was a mere 

pretext for firing him on the basis of disability.   

 60.  Here, Petitioner disputes that he was the lowest, or 

one of the lowest-performing employees during his period of 

employment, but he presented no evidence showing that there were 

others who performed at a lower level than he did during that 

period.  He also contends that he was the only person fired for 

inadequate job performance even though there were others whose 

performance was the same or worse than his; however, again, he 

presented no evidence to prove that contention.
17/
 

 61.  Accordingly, Petitioner failed to show that 

Respondent's stated reason of lack of productivity as the basis 

for his termination was a pretext for terminating him on the 

basis of disability.  See St. Mary's Honor Ctr., 509 U.S. at 515 

("a reason cannot be proved to be a pretext for discrimination 

unless it is shown that both the reason was false and that 

discrimination was the real reason").  

 62.  Based on the foregoing, it is concluded that 

Petitioner failed to prove that Respondent unlawfully 

discriminated against him in violation of section 760.10 by 

terminating him on the basis of disability. 

 63.  Accordingly, the Petition for Relief filed by 

Petitioner with FCHR on February 20, 2015, should be dismissed.  
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RECOMMENDATION 

 Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human 

Relations enter a final order dismissing the Petition for 

Relief. 

 DONE AND ENTERED this 9th day of February, 2016, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida.   

S 
CATHY M. SELLERS 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 9th day of February, 2016. 

 

 

ENDNOTES 

 
1/
  Stephen Fingal, Respondent's vice president of sales, 

testified that call center agents are hired on a day-to-day 

basis and are paid on an hourly basis. 

 
2/
  Petitioner testified that he did not refuse to speak on the 

telephone, as Respondent alleged, but that at times it was 

difficult for him to do so due to shortness of breath.  However, 

as discussed below, the evidence does not show that Respondent's 

supervisors or managers were aware of his illness before he was 

terminated, and he did not request to be transferred to a 

position that did not entail speaking on the phone. 
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3/
  The Employee Counseling Form–Disciplinary Notice and Action 

Form completed on October 30, 2013, at the time Petitioner  

was terminated, was admitted into evidence as Petitioner's 

Exhibit 4.  This form, which was completed by manager Jason 

McDowell, identifies "production" as the violation that 

constitutes the basis for Petitioner's termination.  In the 

"Employee's Statement" section on the form, "lack of production" 

is written.  According to Petitioner, McDowell wrote that 

comment.  In the "Additional Comments" section of the form, 

Petitioner wrote:  "I have been ill for about a month and my 

illness has impacted by [sic] ability to speak on the phone, 

hindering my production."  This form evidences that Petitioner 

was informed, at the time of his termination, that he was being 

terminated for lack of production.  

 
4/
  Petitioner's testimony on this point is hearsay, and 

Petitioner did not establish that it falls within an  

exception to the hearsay rule.  See Carter v. State, 951  

So. 2d 939, 943 (FLA. 4
th
 DCA 2007)(it is the proponent's burden 

to lay the predicate for applicability of an exception to the 

hearsay rule); see also Franzen v. State, 746 So. 2d 473, 474 

(Fla. 2d DCA 1998)(the proponent of a hearsay exception must 

provide a predicate)(Casanueva, J., concurring).  Thus, this 

testimony does not constitute competent substantial evidence on 

which a finding of fact can be based.  § 120.57(1)(c), Fla. 

Stat.  There is no other evidence in the record showing that the 

person who fired him told him it was because he could not do his 

job.  Further, in any event, the undersigned does not find this 

testimony persuasive.    

 
5/
  The evidence established that Petitioner was employed for 

approximately 38 work days, which is slightly over seven work 

weeks consisting of five work days per week.     
 

6/
  An individual is "disabled" within the meaning of the 

Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA"), if he or she possesses 

any one of the following:  (1) a physical or mental impairment 

that substantially limits one or more of the major life 

activities; (2) a record of such an impairment; or (3) is 

regarded as having such an impairment.  42 U.S.C.  

§ 12102(2).  A "major life activity" includes "caring for 

oneself, performing manual tasks, walking, seeing, hearing, 

speaking, breathing, learning, and working."  29 C.F.R.  

§ 1630.2(i)(emphasis added); see DeAngelo v. ConAgra Foods, 

Inc., 422 F.3d 1220, 1225-26 (11th Cir. 2005).  
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7/
  A determination of disability under the ADA is not synonymous 

with a determination of disability by the Social Security 

Administration for purposes of qualifying for SSI benefits.  

This is because the term "disability" is defined and interpreted 

differently in the applicable statutes and regulations.  

Robinson v. Neodata Servs., Inc., 94 F.3d 499, 502 n.2 (8th Cir. 

1996).  Similarly, a determination of disability under the ADA 

is not synonymous with a determination of disability for 

purposes of eligibility to receive vocational rehabilitation 

services under chapter 413, Florida Statutes.  

 
8/
  "Primary" insurance policies are health insurance policies, 

and ancillary policies are attachments or additions to those 

policies for extra coverage, such as dental coverage.  Ancillary 

policy sales do not count toward the 12 sales-per-week 

requirement. 
   

 

9/
  Fingal characterized the $500-per-week salary as a "fixed 

cost" that each agent needed to cover by making a minimum of  

12 primary sales per week.  

 
10/

  Respondent established the predicate for admission of sales 

logs into evidence under the "business records" exception to the 

hearsay rule.  These sales logs showed Petitioner's sales 

performance and that of two other sales agents during the period 

in which Petitioner was employed by Respondent.   

 
11/

  This comparison period takes into account that Petitioner 

was being trained his first week of employment, so did not, and 

was not expected to, make any sales that week.    

 
12/

  Fingal also testified that he had been told by Petitioner's 

direct supervisor that Petitioner had requested to be terminated 

so that he could collect unemployment compensation.  Petitioner 

vehemently denied this.  Fingal's testimony on this point is 

hearsay that was not shown to fall within an exception to the 

hearsay rule, and there is no other evidence to support a 

finding that Petitioner requested to be terminated.  Therefore, 

Fingal's testimony on this point is afforded no weight.  See  

§ 120.57(1)(c), Fla. Stat. (hearsay cannot form the sole basis 

of a finding of fact unless it falls within an exception to the 

hearsay rule). 

 
13/

  All references to provisions of chapter 760, Florida 

Statutes, are to the 2013 version, which was in effect at the 

time of the alleged unlawfully discriminatory conduct.   
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14/
  As previously discussed, the only evidence to the effect 

that Respondent's manager told Petitioner he was being 

terminated due to his medical condition was Petitioner's own 

testimony.  This testimony is hearsay that does not fall within 

an exception to the hearsay rule, so it is not competent 

evidence on which a finding of fact may be based.  Thus, there 

is no competent, credible direct evidence of discrimination in 

this proceeding.  See Quick v. Tripp, Scott, Conklin & Smith, 

P.A., 43 F. Supp. 2d 1357, 1364 (S.D. Fla. 1999)(direct evidence 

of discriminatory intent must be competent).   

 
15/ 

 As noted above, Petitioner did not inform Respondent of his 

health issues, and the evidence establishes that he did not 

request any type of accommodation until he was terminated, at 

which point he informed Respondent of his health issues and 

requested two additional days to give his new medications time 

to work. 

 
16/

  Because Petitioner failed to establish he had, or was 

perceived as having a disability, Respondent was not required to 

provide him accommodations by modifying its employment practices 

and procedures.  See Smith v. Rainey, 747 F. Supp. 2d 1327, 1338 

(M.D. Fla. Sept. 30, 2010). 

 
17/

  As noted above, Petitioner has the ultimate burden of 

persuasion in this proceeding to prove unlawful employment 

discrimination on the basis of disability.     
 

 

 

COPIES FURNISHED: 

 

Tammy S. Barton, Agency Clerk 

Florida Commission on Human Relations 

4075 Esplanade Way, Room 110 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399 

(eServed) 

 

Stuart Jacob Eichelbaum 

Post Office Box 293081 

Davie, Florida  33329 

(eServed) 
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Shana Bridgeman, Esquire 

Goren, Cherof, Doody, and Ezrol, P.A. 

3099 East Commercial Boulevard, Suite 200 

Fort Lauderdale, Florida  33308 

(eServed) 

 

Cheyanne Costilla, General Counsel 

Florida Commission on Human Relations 

4075 Esplanade Way, Room 110 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399 

(eServed) 

 

 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 

15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 

to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 

will issue the Final Order in this case. 




